FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/3/2019 4:48 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

96709-1

THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, PETITIONER

V.

CRISTIAN DELBOSQUE, RESPONDENT

MOTION FOR REVIEW

Court of Appeals No. 49792-1-II
Appeal from the Superior Court of Mason County
The Honorable Daniel Goodell
No. 93-1-00256-4

MICHAEL DORCY Mason County Prosecuting Attorney

By
TIM HIGGS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA #25919

521 N. Fourth Street PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 PH: (360) 427-9670 ext. 417

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1) Did the Court of Appeals err by substituting its own judgment for that of the trial court on contested matters of fact?

State's Petition for Review In re Case No. 49792-1-II

2) Did the Court of Appeals err by misallocating the burden of proof and persuasion, by treating age as a per se mitigating factor, and by finding that the trial court did not properly follow the requirements of RCW 10.95.030 and *Miller v. Alabama*?

D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

The facts are provided in the State's brief to the Court of Appeals, attached as Appendix B.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1) Court of Appeals erred by substituting its own judgment for that of the trial court on contested matters of fact.

At page 9 of its opinion, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court's finding, that "Delbosque continues to exhibit an ongoing attitude to others that is reflective of Mr. Delbosque's underlying murder[,]" was unsupported by substantial evidence in the record. *State v. Delbosque*, No. 49792-1-II (quoting trial court "Memorandum Opinion Re: Finding and Conclusions" at p.2, section 4). But the full context of the trial court's statement is as follows:

Mr. D's chances of becoming rehabilitated and the reflection of transient immaturity. Mr. Delbosque committed an extraordinarily

State's Petition for Review In re Case No. 49792-1-II

brutal and vicious murder of a minor victim. Mr. Delbosque does not suffer from any diagnosable mental illness, but has been diagnosed with alcohol dependence. Mr. Delbosque continues to exhibit an ongoing attitude to others that is reflective of Mr. Delbosque's underlying murder where he is choosing to advance his own needs, even resorting to violence, over the well-being of others. This reflects an attitude that a third party's well-being is insignificant and expendable in comparison to his needs. There is no identified program or treatment presented to deal with this negative attribute.

"Memorandum Opinion Re: Finding and Conclusions" at p.2, section 4 (emphasis added). (Appendix C). The Court of Appeals then states that "[t]he superior court noted in its oral ruling that, while in prison, Delbosque received an infraction in 2010 for his alleged involvement in gang activity." *State v. Delbosque*, No. 49792-1-II, at p. 9. The Court of Appeals alleged that "the [trial] court's only example of this attitude was Delbosque's 2010 infraction for attempting to arrange an assault, which occurred six years prior to the evidentiary hearing." *Id.* at 10. The Court of Appeals found that "to whatever extent Delbosque's infraction history does exhibit a pattern related to the murder he committed, that pattern is not continuing or current" and that "[t]herefore, the superior court's finding is not supported by substantial evidence." *Id.*

State's Petition for Review In re Case No. 49792-1-II

The State contends that the Court of Appeals' findings give rise to "an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court" pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) and that this Court should also accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals' findings are in conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in *State v. Ramos*, 187 Wn.2d 420, 453, 387 P.3d 650 (2017), as amended (Feb. 22, 2017), reconsideration denied (Feb. 23, 2017), cert. denied, 138 S. Ct. 467, 199 L. Ed. 2d 355 (2017) ("Although we cannot say that every reasonable judge would necessarily make the same decisions as the court did here, we cannot reweigh the evidence on review").

The Court of Appeals cites no authority to support its finding that the infraction at issue should be weighed slightly because it is six years old, nor does it cite any authority for its proposition that to support the conclusion of the trial court there must be a continuing or current pattern or the weight that a trial court is required to give to evidence, or the lack of evidence, of post-offense behaviors. This absence of authority begs for the Supreme Court's judgment and supports review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

At page 10 of its opinion, the Court of Appeals overrides the trial court's finding of fact "that Delbosque's crime was reflection of

State's Petition for Review In re Case No. 49792-1-II

'irreparable corruption, permanent incorrigibility, and irretrievable depravity." Delbosque at 10 (quoting "Memorandum Opinion Re: Finding and Conclusions" at p.2, section 1).

But Delbosque is not entitled to a presumption that he should receive a reduced sentence, and he bears the burden of proving that his crime was the result of transient immaturity. *State v. Ramos*, 187 Wn.2d 420, 434-37, 387 P.3d 650 (2017). Nor is the trial court required to make an explicit finding that the crime reflects irreparable corruption. *Id.* at 437, 449-50.

The State contends that the totality of the record supports the trial court's finding. When considering the sufficiency of the evidence in *Ramos*, the Supreme Court stated: "Although we cannot say that every reasonable judge would necessarily make the same decisions as the court did here, we cannot reweigh the evidence on review." *Id.* at 453. The State contends that the same principle should apply in the instant case. The Court of Appeals' opinion to the contrary conflicts with *State v. Ramos*, 187 Wn.2d 420, 387 P.3d 650 (2017), and begs for this Court's acceptance of review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (4).

State's Petition for Review In re Case No. 49792-1-II

2) The Court of Appeals erred by misallocating the burden of proof and persuasion, by treating age as a per se mitigating factor, and by finding that the trial court did not properly follow the requirements of RCW 10.95.030 and *Miller v. Alabama*.

The Court of Appeals held that the trial court failed to comply with the *Miller*-fix statute in this case. *Delbosque* at 10-13. But the sentence in this case was not a life without parole sentence. *Ramos* defined a de facto life sentence as a sentence that exceeds the average human life span. *Ramos* at 434. The trial court followed *Miller* and the *Miller*-fix statute and used its discretion and declined to impose a life sentence, and the Court of Appeals cited no authority to support its contention that *Miller* principles must be applied to Delbosque's 48-year sentence. The Court of Appeals' holding conflicts with *Ramos* and begs for this Court's judgment under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

Additionally, the Court of Appeals seemed to allocate the burden of proof on the State and seemed to assume that youth is a per se mitigating factor for sentencing. The Court of Appeals decision seems to say that all children, all the time, no matter the conduct and irrespective of the facts of the crime, are entitled to a mitigated sentence. See, e.g., Delbosque at 11. This approach makes the Miller-fix hearing a pointless

State's Petition for Review In re Case No. 49792-1-II

formality and removes all discretion and fact-finding functions from the trial court. Age is not a per se mitigating factor. *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 695-96, 358 P.3d 359 (2015). The Court of Appeals decision in this case conflicts with these Supreme Court precedents and begs for this Court's judgment to settle these issues under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

Neither *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012), nor RCW 10.95.030 require the sentencing court to presume that a 17 year old defendant's crime is a reflection of transient immaturity. *Ramos*, 187 Wn.2d at 445. Delbosque's evidence, by way of expert witnesses and witnesses who described his troubled background, was not adequate to persuade the trial court that Delbosque deserved a sentence that was less than what the trial court imposed. Reviewing courts do not substitute their judgment for that of the trial court; thus, the reviewing court must affirm the trial court unless no reasonable person could have come to the same conclusion as the trial court. *In re Det. of Duncan*, 167 Wn.2d 398, 406, 219, P.3d 666 (2009). The Court of Appeals decision in Delbosque conflicts with these authorities and begs for this Court's judgment to resolve these conflicts under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

State's Petition for Review In re Case No. 49792-1-II

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For resolution of the issues raised above, the State urges the Court to accept review of this case.

Respectfully submitted this 3rd day of January, 2019.

MICHAEL DORCY

Mason County

Prosecuting Attorney

Tim Higgs

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

WSBA #25919

Appendix A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 12, 2018 DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,	No. 49792-1-II
Respondent,	ORDER CORRECTING CAPTION OF PUBLISHED OPINION
CRISTIAN J. DELBOSQUE,	
Appellant.	
The published opinion in this case was fi	led on December 4, 2018. Upon the motion

The published opinion in this case was filed on December 4, 2018. Upon the motion of the court to correct the caption of the opinion, it is hereby

ORDERED that the caption of the publish opinion previously filed on December 4, 2018, is hereby changed to:

Respondent,

v.

CRISTIAN J. DELBOSQUE,

Appellant.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

FOR THE COURT:

PANEL: Jj. Johanson, Bjorgen, Sutton

SUTTON, Judge

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHING FOR DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,	No. 49792-1-II
Respondent, v.	ORDER CHANGING CAPTION OF PUBLISHED OPINION
CHRISTIAN J. DELBOSQUE,	
Appellant.	
The published opinion in this case was file	ed on December 12, 20018. Upon the moti

The published opinion in this case was filed on December 12, 20018. Upon the motion of the court to change the caption of the opinion, it is hereby

ORDERED that the caption of the publish opinion previously filed on December 12, 2018, is hereby changed to:

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHRISTIAN J. DELBOSQUE,

Appellant.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

FOR THE COURT:

PANEL: Jj. Johanson, Bjorgen, Sutton

SUTTON, Judge

December 4, 2018

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

In the Matter of the Personal Restraint Petition of:

No. 49792-1-II

CHRISTIAN DELBOSQUE,

PUBLISHED OPINION

Petitioner.

SUTTON, J. — In 1994, a jury found Cristian Delbosque guilty of aggravated first degree murder committed when he was 17 years old. The superior court imposed a life sentence without the possibility of parole. In 2016, under RCW 10.95.030 (the *Miller*-fix statute)¹ and RCW 10.95.035, the superior court held an evidentiary hearing and entered an order imposing a minimum term of 48 years with a maximum term of life imprisonment.

Delbosque challenges his judgment and sentence, arguing that the superior court's findings of fact are unsupported by substantial evidence and that the superior court failed to adequately consider the diminished culpability of youth as required by the *Miller*-fix statute when setting the

¹ In 2014, the Washington legislature responded to the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012), by enacting the *Miller*-fix statute. See RCW 10.95.030(3)(a). The *Miller*-fix statute requires that a sentencing court take into account the factors identified in *Miller* before sentencing a 16- to 18-year-old offender to life without parole or early release. RCW 10.95.030(3)(a)(ii), (b). The legislature also enacted a statute that requires that juveniles sentenced before 2014 to life without parole or early release be resentenced under the *Miller*-fix statute. RCW 10.95.035(1).

minimum term. We hold that the superior court's findings regarding Delbosque having an attitude towards others reflective of the underlying crime, and of Delbosque's permanent incorrigibility and irretrievable depravity are not supported by substantial evidence. We further hold that the superior court failed to comply with the *Miller*-fix statute when setting Delbosque's minimum term. Thus, Delbosque's restraint is unlawful. Accordingly, we grant his Personal Restraint Petition (PRP), reverse the judgment and sentence, and remand for resentencing.

FACTS

In 1994, Delbosque was convicted of aggravated first degree murder for the murder of a young woman. Delbosque was sentenced to a mandatory sentence of life without parole. Delbosque was 17 years old when he committed the murder.

In June 2016, the superior court conducted an evidentiary hearing to set a minimum term of confinement under the *Miller*-fix statute and RCW 10.95.035(1). During this hearing, the superior court heard extensive testimony from Delbosque's friends and relatives regarding his difficult and troubled childhood. The State presented testimony from the officer who investigated the murder and victim impact testimony.

The State also presented evidence from Robert Schreiber, the unit supervisor of the prison where Delbosque was incarcerated. Schreiber testified that Delbosque was currently classified as medium security and would qualify for minimum security except for the term of his sentence and an immigration detainer. Schreiber testified that between 1995 and 2008, Delbosque had 10 prison infractions, and that Delbosque's last infraction was in 2010. The 2010 infraction asserted that Delbosque used his leadership position in a gang to attempt to arrange an assault on another inmate.

Delbosque presented the testimony of two experts. Dr. Manuel Saint Martin evaluated Delbosque for past and current mental health issues. Dr. Saint Martin diagnosed Delbosque with borderline intellectual functioning and alcohol dependence at the time he committed the crime. Dr. Saint Martin also testified that he believed the murder likely involved "some sort of psychotic episode due to alcohol." III Verbatim Report of Proceeding (VRP) at 423. In Dr. Saint Martin's opinion, Delbosque's dependence on alcohol played a significant role in the murder.

Dr. Sarah Heavin testified specifically regarding whether youth was a factor in Delbosque's case. Dr. Heavin testified that the major area in which youthfulness affects behavior is executive functioning because of the youth's underdeveloped frontal lobe. Generally, this results in juveniles being more likely to engage in risk-taking behavior and more susceptible to peer pressure or peer approval. Dr. Heavin opined that Delbosque was even more likely to exhibit these behaviors because of his lower intellectual functioning and traumatic upbringing. Specifically, Dr. Heavin testified that "youthfulness, combined with trauma, made him less likely to monitor his own behavior responsibly, inhibit aggressive behavior." III VRP at 513. In summary, Dr. Heavin testified,

Well, I'm not suggesting that Mr. Delbosque's homicide be excused. I'm suggesting that the [c]ourt respectfully consider the effect that his early childhood had on his brain development. It's my opinion that his relative risk taking was greater than a typically developing youth without those same risk factors, which placed him in the apartment drinking alcohol excessively with a gun. And once essentially this string of crimes that were committed that night started, he had more difficulty than the average teen behaving in a reasonable way.

III VRP at 537-38.

After the hearing, the superior court entered the following findings of fact:

- 2. Childhood and Life Experiences. Mr. Delbosque endured a very difficult childhood up until the time of the murder, including a life with little nurturing, limited nutrition, and much chaos. Many risk factors are associated with the upbringing and development of Mr. Delbosque, including utero exposure to alcohol, his mother's death at an early age, a life of impoverishment, and both sexual and physical abuse as a child.
- 3. **Degree of Responsibility.** Mr. Delbosque is entirely responsible for the murder. No other person assisted him in the design or implementation of the murder. Alcohol dependence was not a predominate factor in the murder. Anger and a desire to conceal guilt were the predominate factors.
- 4. Mr. [Delbosque]'s chances of becoming rehabilitated and the reflection of transient immaturity. Mr. Delbosque committed an extraordinarily brutal and vicious murder of a minor victim. Mr. Delbosque does not suffer from any diagnosable mental illness, but has been diagnosed with alcohol dependence. Mr. Delbosque continues to exhibit an ongoing attitude to others that is reflective of Mr. Delbosque's underlying murder where he is choosing to advance his needs, even resorting to violence, over the well-being of others. This reflects an attitude that a third party's well-being is insignificant and expendable in comparison to his needs. There is no identified program or treatment presented to deal with this negative attribute.

Clerk's Papers (CP) at 30-31. Based on its findings, the superior court concluded,

The brutal murder that Mr. Delbosque committed in October of 1993 was not symptomatic of transient immaturity, but has proven over time to be a reflection of irreparable corruption, permanent incorrigibility, and irretrievable depravity.

CP at 31.² The superior court set a minimum term of 48 years with a maximum term of life imprisonment.

² Delbosque argues that the superior court mislabeled this finding as a conclusion of law. Br. of Appellant at 17. Findings of fact are determinations of whether the evidence shows that something existed or occurred. *Casterline v. Roberts*, 168 Wn. App. 376, 382, 284 P.3d 743 (2012). We agree. We treat findings of fact, labeled as conclusions of law, as findings of fact when challenged on appeal. *State v. Ross*, 141 Wn.2d 304, 309-10, 4 P.3d 130 (2000). Because the superior court's conclusion of law relates to whether a fact existed, we treat it as a finding of fact.

ANALYSIS

I. PROPER REVIEW OF DELBOSQUE'S CLAIMS

Delbosque filed a direct appeal of the superior court's order imposing the new minimum term. However, the proper method for Delbosque to seek review of the superior court's order is a PRP. State v. Bassett, 198 Wn. App. 714, 721, 394 P.3d 430 (2017), aff'd, ____ Wn. App. ____, 428 P.3d 343 (October 18, 2018). As a result, we requested supplemental briefing to allow Delbosque to address whether the superior court's order satisfied the requirements for relief from restraint under RAP 16.4. Order Requesting Supplemental Briefing at 2 (April 17, 2018).

In his supplemental brief, Delbosque argues that we should review his direct appeal of the superior court's order imposing the new minimum term of incarceration as a PRP.³ We agree.

RCW 10.95.035 provides for certain juvenile offenders sentenced to life without parole or release before June 1, 2014, to be resentenced consistent with the *Miller*-fix statute. *Bassett*, 198 Wn. App. at 718, n.6. RCW 10.95.035(3) also provides that "[t]he court's order setting a minimum term is subject to review to the same extent as a minimum term decision by the parole board before July 1, 1986." Review of a minimum term decision by the parole board before July 1, 1986, was obtained by filing a PRP. *Bassett*, 198 Wn. App. at 721.

³ Delbosque also argues that RCW 10.95.035(3) is unconstitutional because it violates the guaranteed right to appeal under article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution. The State declined to respond to Delbosque's argument and instead argues that we should decline to address it because it was raised for the first time in the supplemental briefing and was outside the scope of this court's order for supplemental briefing. Generally, this court will not consider an argument raised for the first time in supplemental briefing. *State v. Krajeski*, 104 Wn. App. 377, 387, 16 P.3d 69 (2001). Accordingly, we do not consider Delbosque's argument that RCW 10.95.035(3) is unconstitutional.

"In order to facilitate review of a minimum term decision on the merits, we may disregard a filing defect and treat a direct appeal as a PRP." *Bassett*, 198 Wn. App. at 721-22. Although Delbosque filed a direct appeal of the superior court's order imposing the new minimum term of incarceration, we disregard this procedural defect and review Delbosque's appeal as a PRP.

II. MINIMUM TERM SENTENCE

Delbosque argues that the superior court's findings of fact are unsupported by substantial evidence and that the superior court failed to adequately consider the diminished culpability of youth as required by the *Miller*-fix statute when setting the minimum term of his sentence. We hold that (1) the superior court's findings regarding Delbosque having an attitude towards others reflective of the underlying crime, and of Delbosque's permanent incorrigibility and irretrievable depravity are not supported by substantial evidence, and (2) the superior court failed to comply with the *Miller*-fix statute when setting the minimum term.

A. LEGAL PRINCIPLES

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