No. 96709-1

## THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

v.

CRISTIAN DELBOSQUE,

Respondent.

# ON MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR MASON COUNTY

# ANSWER

GREGORY C. LINK Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

#

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

Cristian and his siblings suffered from malnutrition throughout childhood. RP 271-72. The family's home lacked electricity, water, and toilets. RP 231-33, 266-69.

Cristian's dad physically abused the children. RP 235-37. Their mother was frequently absent for extended periods. RP 400-01.

When he was 6 or 7, Cristian's mother died. RP 215-16. His father sent Christian, a brother and sister to live with an aunt. RP 279. Their aunt ran a brothel in a nearby city. RP 20-81. While with their aunt, Cristian and his sister were physically and sexually abused. RP 346, 407-09, 490-91. Cristian later learned he, his brother and sister probably had a different father than their siblings; likely explaining why their father sent them away. RP 327-28.

After several years with their aunt, the three siblings returned to their village. RP 346, 407-09, 490-91. There they lived with a older sister who suffered from schizophrenia. RP 329, Ex. 5. Cristian quit school to begin working. RP 285-86. He also began drinking heavily. *Id*.

A few years later, when he was 16, Cristian moved to Shelton to live with a brother. RP 294-96. Rather than enroll

in school, Cristian took a job as a dishwasher. *Id.* His abuse of alcohol continued. RP 256-60, 301.

Soon after Cristian's arrival, Filiberto Sandoval, a friend from Mexico joined Cristian in Shelton. RP 26, 249.

In October 1993, 17-yar-old Cristian went to the apartment Filiberto shared with his 16-year-old girlfriend. RP 15-17. Filiberto and Cristian drank throughout the night and got into an argument. *Id*. Cristian shot Filiberto killing him. RP 25, 32, 42. Cristian then stabbed Filiberto's girlfriend. RP 25, 35, 42, 179.

Cristian was convicted of aggravated first degree murder and received a sentence of life without parole.

Following the enactment of RCW 10.95.030 and RCW 10.95.035 Cristian was resentenced.

At that resentencing, Dr. Manuel Saint Martin offered his diagnosis that at the time of his offense Cristian suffered with borderline intellectual functioning and alcohol dependence. RP 423. Dr. Martin testified Cristian IQ is 76-77, placing him in the 6<sup>th</sup> percentile. RP 397-98. Dr. Sara Heavin testified, as compared to adults, youthfulness impacts children's executive functioning resulting in greater risk-taking behavior and susceptibility to peer influence and approval. *Delbosque*, 430 P.3d at 1156. Christian's traumatic childhood and low intellectual functioning resulted differentiated Cristian from even typical children. *Id*. Dr. Heavin opined Cristian had even greater deficits in brain development than the norm. *Id*.

In the first 13 years of his imprisonment, Christian had 10 infractions. In the six years preceding his resentencing he had none. *Id*.

The trial court nonetheless concluded Cristian's was irreparably corrupt, permanently incorrigible, and irretrievably depraved. CP 31.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court concluding its findings of fact were not supported by substantial evidence. The court also found the trial court had failed to specifically consider the mitigating qualities of youthfulness as required by RCW 10.95.030.

#### D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. The Court of Appeals conclusion that the trial court's findings of fact are not supported by the evidence does not create an issue of substantial public importance and does not warrant review by this Court.

The Court of Appeals employed the proper standard, asking whether substantial evidence supported the trial court's findings. *Delbosque*, 430 P.3d at 1158 (citing *State v*. *Homan*, 181 Wn.2d 102, 105-06, 330 P.3d 182 (2014). The conclusion that factual support was lacking is not a misapplication of the law and does not call for review from this Court. Contrary to the State's claim, the court did not "substitute its own judgment" nor "override the trial court's finding." Instead the Court of Appeals found the findings simply lacked support in the record.

The State also contends a trial court may properly presume a child is irreparably corrupt, permanently incorrigible, and irretrievably depraved and require the child to prove otherwise. Petition at 7. The State insists this is so contending youthfulness does not necessarily "entitle" a person to an exceptional sentence. *Id.* (citing *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 698-99, 358 P.3d 359 (2015)). That claim has little relevance to this case. First, *O'Dell* concerned adult sentencing and not the sentencing of juveniles. Adults do not enjoy the same protections at sentencing under the Eighth Amendment and Article I, section 14. Second, and relatedly, this assertion presupposes that sentencing rules apply equally to adults and children. This Court's decision in *State v. Houston-Sconiers* made clear they do not. 181 Wn.2d 1, 21, 391 P.3d 409 (2017).

The normal child is not as culpable as an adult. *Miller* v. *Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 471-72, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012). When a sentencing scheme is applied to a child in the same fashion as an older offender, the scheme is "the same in name only." *Id.* at 475 (Internal citations and ellipses omitted.) *O'Dell* addressed only the question whether the relative youthfulness of an adult offender could warrant a mitigated sentence. While *O'Dell* draws on much of the same science as *Houston-Sconiers*, it is not a constitutional ruling

and instead simply addresses the reach of the SRA when sentencing an adult. Cristian is not being sentenced for an adult offense.

To require a child to satisfy the same standard under the SRA as an adult ignores the observation in *Miller* that "a sentencer misses too much if he treats every child as an adult." 567 U.S. at 477. Instead, it is only the rare or "exceptional" child who is as culpable as an adult. *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 72-73, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 176 L. Ed. 2d 825 (2010). Normal is not exceptional. Requiring a child to prove their culpability lies within the norm turns the basic premise of the SRA on its head.

The SRA does not require an adult offender to prove they are a typical adult offender in order to receive a presumptive sentence. Yet the State contends the SRA must require children to prove they fall within the norm, that they are a typical child, in order to trigger the discretion that *Houston-Sconiers* requires. By the State's logic a child must prove they are a child in order to be treated as a child. The opinion of the Court of Appeals properly complied with the requirements of *Miller*.

## 2. Just as it does for every other felony sentence, Article I, section 22 guarantees Christian the right to appeal the sentence imposed by the trial court in this case.

The Court of Appeals wrongly concluded Cristian could only seek review of his sentence by way of a personal restraint petition. As with any sentence, Article I, section 22 guarantees a right to appeal. Cristian properly raised this argument below yet the court refused to address it. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(d) Cristian may raise this issue in his Answer. Because it is a significant constitutional issue this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

# a. Article I, section 22 guarantees the right appeal the sentence imposed.

Sentencing proceedings, like that proscribed by RCW 10.95.030, are subject to the accused's constitutional rights under the Washington Constitution. Article I, section 22 enshrines the accused's "right to appeal in all cases." This provision "grants not a mere privilege but a 'right to appeal in all cases'. . . it is to be accorded the highest respect by" our courts. *State v. Sweet*, 90 Wn.2d 282, 286, 581 P.2d 579 (1978).

The Court of Appeals in State v. Bassett, Division Two interpreted this subsection to mean there is no right to direct appeal from a sentencing under RCW 10.95.035. 198 Wn. App. 714, 721-22, 394 P.3d 430 (2017) affirmed on other grounds, 192 Wn.2d 67, 428 P.3d 343 (2018). Division Two reached this decision based on language in RCW 10.95.035 that an order setting a minimum term is subject to review to the same extent as a minimum term decision by the parole board before July 1, 1986. Id. at 721 (citing RCW 10.95.035(3)). Division Two reasoned, parole board decisions setting a minimum term could be reviewed only through a personal restraint petition. *Id.* While this Court affirmed the conclusion in *Bassett* that a child may never be sentenced to life without parole, the Court did not address the appealability question.

In Cristian's case, the Court of Appeals, relying on its decision in *Bassett*, again concluded Christian could not

appeal the sentence imposed. Instead the court reasoned his only avenue was a Personal Restraint Petition (PRP).

The imposition of a sentence by the superior court pursuant to RCW 10.95.035 is patently distinct from the parole board's administrative setting of a minimum term. Prior to the SRA, the superior court did not set the minimum term, but instead only imposed a sentence equal to the maximum term provided by statute. Following the defendant's transfer to the Department of Corrections, the parole board "fixed" the minimum term. Laws 1986, ch 224, §9 (former RCW 9.95.040). The administrative setting of a minimum term was not appealable of right. In re the Personal Restraint of Rolston, 46 Wn. App. 622, 623, 732 P.2d 166 (1987). However, the court's imposition of its sentence and the procedure for doing so has always been subject to direct appeal. In re the Personal Restraint of Sinka, 92 Wn.2d 555, 565-66, 599 P.2d 1275 (1979) (noting setting of minimum term is unlike the other parts of a criminal prosecution in terms of due process); see also State v. Williams, 149 Wn.2d

143, 146-47, 65 P.3d 1214 (2003) (even under the SRA,

"underlying legal conclusions and determinations by which a court comes to apply a particular sentencing provision" are appealable); *State v. Ammons*, 105 Wn.2d 175, 182-83, 713 P.2d 719 (1986) (even under the SRA, "appellant, of course, is not precluded from challenging on appeal the procedure by which a sentence within the standard range was imposed").

Unlike the sentencing court in Cristian's case, the parole board was an administrative agency. D. Boerner, *Sentencing in Washington*, 1-1 (1985). The administrative setting of a minimum term was not a part of the criminal proceeding and the State was not a party. *In re Matter of Bonds*, 26 Wn. App. 526, 529-30, 613 P.2d 1196 (1980). It was not an adversarial proceeding. *Id.* ("the setting of a minimum term [by the parole board] is not part of a criminal prosecution and the full panoply of rights due a defendant in such a proceeding does not apply to a minimum term setting." *Id.*; *Sinka*, 92 Wn.2d at 561 ("The actual setting of a minimum term occurs at a meeting between the inmate and a two-person panel of the Parole Board; that meeting averages 15-20 minutes in length. . . . counsel, family and friends are not allowed to attend.").

The analysis in *Bonds* rested on the idea that under parole sentencing system a person had no expectation in anything other than maximum term. *Lindsey v. Superior Court,* 33 Wn.2d 94, 104, 204 P.2d 482 (1949). The law required the trial court to impose the maximum term. A minimum term, set by a parole board, was merely an act of administrative grace. *January v. Porter,* 75 Wn.2d 768, 774, 453, P.2d 876 (1969). That is no longer the case.

A child sentenced as an adult to life without parole has a constitutional right to be resentenced and to have the court consider a lesser minimum term. In fact, in this Court has concluded Article I, section 14 prohibits imposing the maximum term in any case. *State v. Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d 67, 90, 428 P.3d 343 (2018). Instead, a sentencing court must exercise discretion whenever sentencing children as adults. *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d at 21. Unlike sentencing prior to 1986 where only one sentence was permissible, sentencing under RCW 10.95.035 requires a court to exercise a substantial amount of discretion.

Sentencing under RCW 10.95.030 is not merely an administrative act. Instead, it is an adversarial proceeding at which the sentencing court will exercise its discretion to impose a sentence. Unlike parole proceedings, a sentencing hearing under RCW 10.95.035, as well as the resulting sentence, implicates several substantive and procedural constitutional rights. A sentence imposed under RCW 10.95.035 does not exist merely as an exercise of administrative grace but rather by constitutional mandate.

This Court has already recognized that an absolute statutory prohibition on the right to appeal a sentence imposed likely violates Article I, section 22. *State v. Herzog*, 112 Wn.2d 419, 423, 771 P.2d 739 (1989); *Williams*, 149 Wn.2d at 147. RCW 10.95.035(3) purports to do exactly that. Under the statute, children previously convicted of aggravated first degree murder and resentenced are the only individuals

in Washington who do not have a right to appeal the sentence imposed or even the manner in which that sentence is imposed. Not only does that provision deny them their right to appeal under Article I, section 22, it casts substantial constitutional uncertainty under the Equal Protection Clauses of the State and Federal constitutions. As every other criminal defendant, Christian has an unqualified right to appeal the sentence imposed in his case. To the extent RCW 10.95.035(3) purports to limit the right, it is unconstitutional.

The opinion of the Court of Appeals is contrary to this Court's opinion and presents a significant constitutional issue. If this Court grants the State's petition, it should grant review of this issue to make clear Article I, section 22 guarantees the right to appeal the sentence imposed in a criminal matter.

## b. Cristian argued treating this matter as a PRP violated his right to appeal under Article 1, section 22.

Following the imposition of his sentence, Christian filed a notice of appeal. The State did not object nor did the Court of Appeals comment. This Court sent appointed counsel a perfection schedule directing counsel to perfect the matter pursuant the Rules of Appellate Procedure pertaining to direct appeals. The State did not object. Over the next several months Cristian perfected his direct appeal pursuant to the Rules of Appellate Procedures as directed by the court. The State did not object nor did the Court of Appeals comment. Cristian filed his Brief of Appellant.

More than 10 months after he filed his notice of appeal and three months after Cristian filed his brief, the State argued for the first time that RCW 10.95.035 barred Cristian from appealing his sentence. Cristian filed a supplemental brief in which he contended RCW 0.95.035(3) violates Article I, section 22. The Court of Appeals refused to address

Cristian's argument because it was raised in a supplemental brief, a brief which the court itself invited.

But at no point prior to the State's brief did Cristian have reason to argue his direct appeal was properly treated as a direct appeal. That is what the court had done to that point. That is what the parties had done to that point. And as set forth above, that is in fact what Article I, section 22 required. There is no reason for any litigant to proactively argue the unconstitutionality of a statute which no party or court has even suggested bars their case. Cristian did address the unconstitutionality of the statute after the State contended it barred his appeal.

The Court of Appeals treated this matter as a direct appeal up to the issuance of its opinion. Even though the court's view of the correct procedural posture of this case changed midcourse, it refused to address or consider Cristian's argument as to why the procedural posture could not change.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Interestingly, despite having argued Cristian's sentence is only reviewable as a minimum term decision prior to 1986, the prosecutor has never acknowledged much less addressed what that

Cristian properly raised his challenge to the constitutionality of RCW 10.95.035. As discussed earlier, this Court should review that challenge if it is to grant the State's request for review.

#### E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The Court of Appeals properly concluded the court's findings were unsupported by the evidence. Too, the trial court did not comply with the RCW 10.95.030. This Court should deny review of the State's petition. The Court should, however, grant review of the question of whether Cristian may appeal his sentence.

Respectfully submitted this 22<sup>nd</sup> day of February, 2018.

Angry 1. Le

Gregory C. Link – 25228 Attorney for Respondent Washington Appellate Projectgreg@washapp.org

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